

House Bill 324

By: Representatives Neal of the 1st, Collins of the 27th, Cooper of the 41st, Gardner of the 57th, and Murphy of the 120th

A BILL TO BE ENTITLED
AN ACT

1 To amend Chapter 4 of Title 37 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, relating to the
2 habilitation of the developmentally disabled generally, so as to revise definitions; to repeal
3 various obsolete provisions relating to procedures for obtaining services from the Department
4 of Behavioral Health and Developmental Disabilities relative to developmentally disabled
5 persons; to provide for hearings by administrative law judges; to eliminate hearing
6 examiners; to amend various other titles of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, so as to
7 revise provisions for purposes of conformity; to provide for related matters; to repeal
8 conflicting laws; and for other purposes.

9 BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF GEORGIA:

10 SECTION 1.

11 Chapter 4 of Title 37 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, relating to the habilitation
12 of the developmentally disabled generally, is amended in Code Section 37-4-2, relating to
13 definitions, as follows:

14 "37-4-2.

15 As used in this chapter, the term:

16 (1) 'Client' means any person with a developmental disability who seeks habilitation
17 under this chapter or any person for whom such habilitation is sought.

18 (2) 'Clinical record' means a written record pertaining to an individual client and includes
19 habilitation record, progress notes, charts, admission and discharge data, and all other
20 information which is recorded by a facility and which pertains to the client's habilitation.
21 Such other information as may be required by rules and regulations of the board shall also
22 be included.

23 (3) 'Community services' means all services deemed reasonably necessary by the
24 Department of Behavioral Health and Developmental Disabilities to provide for the
25 education, training, habilitation, and care of developmentally disabled individuals. Such
26 services shall include, but not be limited to, diagnostic and evaluation services, day-care

27 and training services, work activity services, community residential services such as
 28 group family care homes, transportation services, social services, medical services, and
 29 specified home services.

30 (4) 'Comprehensive ~~evaluation team~~' or 'comprehensive habilitation team' means and
 31 shall consist of a group of persons with special training and experience in the assessment
 32 of needs and provision of services for developmentally disabled persons, ~~which. The~~
 33 group shall include, at a minimum, persons qualified to provide social, psychological,
 34 medical, and other services. The department shall specify the qualifications of the
 35 individuals who comprise ~~a comprehensive evaluation team~~ or a comprehensive
 36 habilitation team and shall ensure that such teams are located throughout the state so as
 37 to provide diagnostic, evaluation, and habilitation services for all citizens of Georgia.

38 (5) 'Court' means:

39 (A) In the case of an individual who is 17 years of age or older, the probate court of the
 40 county of residence of the client or the county in which such client is found.
 41 Notwithstanding Code Section 15-9-13, in any case in which the judge of said probate
 42 court is unable to hear a case brought under this chapter within the time required for
 43 such hearing, said judge shall appoint a person to serve and exercise all the jurisdiction
 44 of the probate court in such case. Any person so appointed shall be a member of the
 45 State Bar of Georgia and shall be otherwise qualified for his or her duties by training
 46 and experience. Such appointment may be made on a case-by-case basis or by making
 47 a standing appointment of one or more persons. Any person receiving such standing
 48 appointment shall serve at the pleasure of the judge making the appointment or the
 49 judge's successor in office to hear such cases if and when necessary. The compensation
 50 of a person so appointed shall be as agreed upon by the judge who makes the
 51 appointment and the person appointed with the approval of the governing authority of
 52 the county for which such person is appointed and shall be paid from the county funds
 53 of said county. All fees collected for the services of such appointed person shall be
 54 paid into the general funds of the county served; or

55 (B) In the case of an individual who is under the age of 17 years, the juvenile court of
 56 the county of residence of the client or the county in which such client is found.

57 ~~(6) 'Developmentally disabled person in need of community services' means a~~
 58 ~~developmentally disabled person who, after comprehensive evaluation, is found to be in~~
 59 ~~need of community services as defined in Code Section 37-5-3.~~

60 ~~(7) 'Developmentally disabled person requiring temporary and immediate care' means~~
 61 ~~a person who is developmentally disabled, and:~~

62 ~~(A) Who presents a substantial risk of imminent harm to himself or herself or others;~~

63 ~~(B) Who is in need of immediate care, evaluation, stabilization, or treatment for certain~~
 64 ~~developmental, medical, or behavioral needs; and~~

65 ~~(C) For whom there currently exists no available, appropriate community residential~~
 66 ~~setting for meeting the needs of the person.~~

67 ~~(8)~~(6) 'Facility' means any state owned or state operated institution utilized 24 hours a
 68 day for the habilitation and residence of persons who are developmentally disabled, any
 69 facility operated or utilized for such purpose by the United States Department of Veterans
 70 Affairs or any other federal agency, and any other facility within the State of Georgia
 71 approved for such purpose by the department.

72 ~~(9)~~(7) 'Full and fair hearing' or 'hearing' means a proceeding before ~~a hearing examiner~~
 73 an administrative law judge, under Code Section 37-4-42, or before a court, as defined
 74 in paragraph (5) of this Code section. The hearing may be held in a regular courtroom
 75 or in an informal setting, in the discretion of the ~~hearing examiner~~ administrative law
 76 judge or the court, but the hearing shall be recorded electronically or by a qualified court
 77 reporter. The client shall be provided with effective assistance of counsel. If the client
 78 cannot afford counsel, the court shall appoint counsel for him or her or the ~~hearing~~
 79 ~~examiner~~ administrative law judge shall have the court appoint such counsel. The client
 80 shall have the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses and to offer evidence. The
 81 client shall have the right to subpoena witnesses and to require testimony before the
 82 ~~hearing examiner~~ administrative law judge or in court in person or by deposition from
 83 any physician upon whose evaluation the decision of the ~~hearing examiner~~ administrative
 84 law judge or the court may rest. The client shall have the right to obtain a continuance
 85 for any reasonable time for good cause shown. The ~~hearing examiner~~ administrative law
 86 judge and the court shall apply the rules of evidence applicable in civil cases. The burden
 87 of proof shall be upon the party seeking treatment of the client. The standard of proof
 88 shall be by clear and convincing evidence. At the request of the client, the public may
 89 be excluded from the hearing~~s~~, and the client need not be present if the court consents;
 90 in either of these events, the record shall reflect the reason for the ~~hearing examiner's~~
 91 administrative law judge's or the court's action.

92 ~~(10)~~(8) 'Habilitation' means the process by which program personnel help clients acquire
 93 and maintain those life skills which will enable them to cope more effectively with the
 94 demands of their own persons and of their environment and to raise the level of their
 95 physical, mental, social, and vocational abilities.

96 ~~(11)~~(9) 'Individualized program plan' means a proposed habilitation program written in
 97 behavioral terms, developed by the comprehensive ~~evaluation~~ habilitation team, and
 98 specifically tailored to the needs of an individual client. Each plan shall include:

99 (A) A statement of the nature of the client's specific problems and specific needs;

- 100 (B) A description of intermediate and long-range habilitation goals and a projected
 101 timetable for their attainment;
- 102 (C) A description of the proposed habilitation program and its relation to habilitation
 103 goals;
- 104 (D) Identification of the facility and types of professional personnel responsible for
 105 execution of the client's habilitation program;
- 106 (E) A statement of the least restrictive environment necessary to achieve the purposes
 107 of habilitation, based upon the needs of the client;
- 108 (F) An explanation of criteria for acceptance or rejection of alternative environments
 109 for habilitation; and
- 110 (G) Proposed criteria for release of the client into less restrictive habilitation
 111 environments upon obtaining specified habilitation goals.
- 112 ~~(12)~~(10) 'Least restrictive alternative,' 'least restrictive environment,' or 'least restrictive
 113 appropriate habilitation' means that which is the least restrictive available alternative,
 114 environment, or appropriate habilitation, as applicable, within the limits of state funds
 115 specifically appropriated therefor.
- 116 ~~(13)~~(11) 'Person in charge of a client's habilitation' means a superintendent or regional
 117 state hospital administrator of a facility, a case manager, or any other service provider
 118 designated by the department to have overall responsibility for implementation of a
 119 client's individualized program plan. The department shall designate such a person for
 120 each individual ordered to receive services from the department under this chapter.
- 121 ~~(14)~~(12) 'Representatives' means the persons appointed as provided in Code Section
 122 37-4-107 to receive any notice under this chapter.
- 123 ~~(15)~~(13) 'Superintendent' means the chief administrative officer who has overall
 124 management responsibility at any facility, other than a regional state hospital or state
 125 owned or operated community program, receiving developmentally disabled persons
 126 under this chapter or an individual appointed as the designee of such superintendent."

127 **SECTION 2.**

128 Said chapter is further amended in Code Section 37-4-5, relating to validity of hospitalization
 129 orders entered before September 1, 1978, as follows:

130 "37-4-5.

131 (a) No hospitalization of a developmentally disabled person lawful before September 1,
 132 1978, shall be deemed unlawful because of the enactment of this chapter. The board is
 133 authorized to establish reasonable regulations to require that the superintendent or regional
 134 state hospital administrator of each facility where developmentally disabled persons are in
 135 residence apply under Code Section 37-4-42 for an order authorizing continued care of a

136 client for whom such care is necessary and who was initially hospitalized under an order
 137 of a court prior to September 1, 1978. Such prior orders of hospitalization entered by the
 138 courts, unless superseded at an earlier date by an order under this chapter, or unless such
 139 prior orders expire under their own terms at an earlier date, shall remain valid until 12
 140 months following September 1, 1978, after which all such orders shall be null and void and
 141 of no effect.

142 (b) No hospitalization of a person with developmental disabilities which was lawful before
 143 July 1, 2011, shall be deemed unlawful because of the repeal of former Code sections under
 144 Article 2 of this chapter."

145 **SECTION 3.**

146 Said chapter is further amended by repealing and reserving Part 1 of Article 2, relating to
 147 general provisions relative to procedures for obtaining services from the department.

148 **SECTION 4.**

149 Said chapter is further amended by repealing and reserving Code Sections 37-4-40, 37-4-41,
 150 and 37-4-43, relating to filing petitions with the court for according of program of services
 151 to developmentally disabled persons, procedure upon failure of or client's noncompliance
 152 with court ordered habilitation programs, and appointment of hearing examiners for hearings
 153 as to continued habilitation, respectively.

154 **SECTION 5.**

155 Said chapter is further amended by repealing Code Sections 37-4-40.1, 37-4-40.2, 37-4-40.3,
 156 37-4-40.4, and 37-4-40.5, relating to certification that a person requires temporary care,
 157 admission or discharge of a person in custody of a state facility for temporary care, rights of
 158 a person in custody of a state facility for temporary care, evaluation of a person in custody
 159 of a state facility for temporary care, and hearings to determine disposition of persons in
 160 custody of a state facility for temporary care, respectively.

161 **SECTION 6.**

162 Said chapter is further amended by revising Code Section 37-4-42, relating to procedure for
 163 continuation of court ordered habilitation, as follows:

164 "37-4-42.

165 (a) If it is necessary to continue habilitation of a client beyond the end of the period during
 166 which the facility is currently authorized by order of a court or of an administrative law
 167 judge under this chapter to retain the client, the superintendent or regional state hospital

168 administrator, prior to the expiration of the period, shall seek an order authorizing such
169 continued habilitation in the manner provided in this Code section.

170 (b) A Committee for Continued Habilitation Review shall be established by the
171 superintendent or regional state hospital administrator of each facility and shall consist of
172 not less than five persons who meet the same requirements as those persons eligible to be
173 members of the comprehensive ~~evaluation~~ habilitation team as defined in Code Section
174 37-4-2. The committee may conduct its meetings with a quorum of any three members.
175 The function of this committee shall be to review and evaluate the updated individualized
176 program plan and to report to the superintendent or regional state hospital administrator its
177 recommendations concerning the client's need for continued habilitation. No person who
178 has responsibility for the habilitation of the individual client for whom continued
179 habilitation is requested shall serve on any committee which reviews such individual's case.

180 (c) If the superintendent or regional state hospital administrator desires to seek an order
181 under this Code section authorizing continued habilitation for up to 12 months beyond the
182 expiration of the currently authorized period of habilitation, he or she shall first file a notice
183 of such intended action with the Committee for Continued Habilitation Review, which
184 ~~notice~~ shall be forwarded to the committee at least 60 days prior to the expiration of that
185 period.

186 (d) Within ten days of the date of the notice, the committee shall meet to consider the
187 matter of the superintendent's or regional state hospital administrator's intention to seek an
188 order for continued habilitation. Prior to the committee's meeting, the client and his or her
189 representatives shall be notified of the following: the purpose of such meeting, the time and
190 place of such meeting, their right to be present at such meeting, and their right to present
191 any alternative individualized program plan secured at their expense. In those cases in
192 which the client will not or cannot appear, at least one member of the committee will make
193 all reasonable efforts to interview the client and report to the committee. An updated
194 individualized program plan for the client shall be presented to the committee. The
195 committee shall report to the superintendent or regional state hospital administrator or his
196 or her designee, other than the attending physician or a member of the committee, its
197 written recommendations along with any minority recommendations which may also be
198 submitted. Such report ~~will~~ shall specify whether or not the client is a developmentally
199 disabled person requiring continued habilitation and whether continued habilitation is the
200 least restrictive alternative available.

201 (e) If after considering the committee's recommendations and minority recommendations,
202 if any, the superintendent or regional state hospital administrator or his or her designee,
203 other than the attending physician or a member of the committee, determines that the client

204 is not a developmentally disabled person requiring continued habilitation, the client shall
205 be discharged from the facility pursuant to subsection (b) of Code Section 37-4-44.

206 (f) If after considering the committee's recommendations and minority recommendations,
207 if any, the superintendent or regional state hospital administrator or his or her designee,
208 other than the client's attending physician or a member of the committee, determines that
209 the client is a developmentally disabled person requiring continued habilitation, he or she
210 shall, within ten days after receiving the committee's recommendations, serve a petition for
211 an order authorizing continued habilitation along with copies of the updated individualized
212 program plan and the committee's report on the designated office within the department and
213 shall also serve such petition along with a copy of the updated individualized program plan
214 on the client. The petition shall contain a plain and simple statement that the client or his
215 or her representatives may file a request for a hearing with ~~a hearing examiner appointed~~
216 ~~pursuant to Code Section 37-4-43~~ the Office of State Administrative Hearings within 15
217 days after service of the petition, that the client has a right to counsel at the hearing, that
218 the client or his or her representatives may apply immediately to the ~~court~~ administrative
219 law judge to have counsel appointed if the client cannot afford counsel, and that the ~~court~~
220 administrative law judge will appoint counsel for the client unless the client indicates in
221 writing that he or she will have retained counsel by the time set for hearing or does not
222 desire to be represented by counsel.

223 (g) If a hearing is not requested by the client or the representatives within 15 days after
224 service of the petition on the client and his or her representatives, the ~~hearing examiner~~
225 administrative law judge shall make an independent review of the committee's report, the
226 updated individualized program plan, and the petition. If he or she concludes that
227 continued habilitation may not be necessary or if he or she finds any member of the
228 committee so concluded, then he or she shall order that a hearing be held pursuant to
229 subsection (h) of this Code section. If he or she concludes that continued habilitation is
230 necessary, then he or she shall order continued habilitation for a period not to exceed one
231 year.

232 (h) If a hearing is requested within 15 days after service of the petition on the client and
233 his or her representatives or if the ~~hearing examiner~~ administrative law judge orders a
234 hearing pursuant to subsection (g) of this Code section, the ~~hearing examiner~~ administrative
235 law judge shall set a time and place for the hearing to be held within 25 days of the time
236 the ~~hearing examiner~~ administrative law judge receives the request, but, in any event, no
237 later than the day on which the current order for habilitation expires. Notice of the hearing
238 shall be served on the client, his or her representatives, the facility, and, when appropriate,
239 on counsel for the client. The ~~hearing examiner~~ administrative law judge, within his or her
240 discretion, may grant a change of venue for the convenience of parties or witnesses. Such

241 hearing shall be a full and fair hearing, except that the client's attorney, when the client is
 242 unable to attend the hearing and is incapable of consenting to a waiver of his or her
 243 appearance, may move that the client not be required to appear; however, the record shall
 244 reflect the reasons for the ~~hearing examiner's~~ administrative law judge's actions.

245 (i) After such hearing, the hearing examiner may issue any order which the court is
 246 authorized to issue under subsection (e) of Code Section 37-4-40, provided that the hearing
 247 examiner administrative law judge may order the client's continued habilitation for a period
 248 not to exceed one year, subject to the power of the superintendent or regional state hospital
 249 administrator to discharge the client under subsection (b) of Code Section 37-4-44;
 250 provided, however, that if the administrative law judge finds that the client is not
 251 developmentally disabled or is not in need of care, training, education, habilitation, or other
 252 specialized services which the client is then receiving, the administrative law judge shall
 253 dismiss the petition.

254 ~~(i) The hearing examiner for a client who was admitted under the jurisdiction of the~~
 255 ~~juvenile court and who reaches the age of 17 without having had a full and fair hearing~~
 256 ~~pursuant to any provisions of this chapter or without having waived such hearing shall~~
 257 ~~order that a hearing be held pursuant to subsection (h) of this Code section."~~

258

SECTION 7.

259 Said chapter is further amended in Code Section 37-4-82, relating to payment of expenses
 260 incurred in connection with hearings held under Chapter 4 of Title 37, as follows:

261 "37-4-82.

262 (a) Except as provided in this Code section, the expenses of any hearing held under this
 263 chapter by a court or by a ~~hearing examiner~~ an administrative law judge, including
 264 attorneys' fees authorized by paragraph (1) of subsection (b) of this Code section and
 265 including ~~hearing officer~~ expenses authorized by paragraph (3) of subsection (b) of this
 266 Code section, shall be paid by the county in which the client has his or her residence or,
 267 if the client is a transient, by the county in which the client was initially taken into the
 268 custody of the state. Payment by such county of the hearing expenses shall only be required
 269 if the person who actually presides over the hearing executes an affidavit or includes a
 270 statement in his or her final order relating to the hearing that the assets of the client, his or
 271 her estate, and any persons legally obligated to support the client appear to be insufficient
 272 to defray such expenses, based upon all relevant information available to the person who
 273 actually presides over the hearing. Such affidavit or statement may include the client's
 274 name, address, and age. The cost on appeal to the appropriate court shall be the same as
 275 provided for in other appeals from the probate and juvenile courts.

276 (b) Expenses of any hearing held under this chapter shall include:

277 (1) The fee to be paid to an attorney appointed under this chapter to represent a patient
 278 at such hearing. Such fee shall be as agreed between the attorney and the appointing court
 279 but shall not exceed an amount determined under the fee schedule followed by the county
 280 when computing the fees to be paid to an attorney who has been appointed to represent
 281 an indigent criminal defendant, plus actual expenses which an attorney may incur and
 282 which have been approved by the court holding the hearing. In exceptional
 283 circumstances, the attorney may apply to the superior court of the judicial circuit in which
 284 the hearing was held for an order granting reasonable fees in excess of the amounts
 285 specified in this paragraph;

286 (2) The fee to be paid to the court, ~~which fee shall be~~ to defray the cost of clerical help
 287 and the cost of any additional office space and equipment required for the conduct of
 288 such hearing. In hearings conducted pursuant to Code Section 37-4-42 such fee shall be
 289 \$20.00, and in all other hearings under this chapter such fee shall be \$40.00, excluding
 290 attorneys' fees and expenses of the ~~hearing officer~~ administrative law judge; and

291 (3) The fee to be paid to a ~~hearing officer~~ an administrative law judge appointed pursuant
 292 to subparagraph (A) of paragraph (5) of Code Section 37-4-2 to conduct a hearing. Such
 293 fee shall be as agreed between the ~~hearing officer~~ administrative law judge and the
 294 appointing court, but shall not exceed an amount determined under the fee schedule
 295 followed by the county when computing the fees to be paid to an attorney who has been
 296 appointed to represent an indigent criminal defendant plus actual expenses which the
 297 ~~hearing officer~~ administrative law judge may incur and which have been approved by the
 298 court holding the hearing. In exceptional circumstances, the ~~hearing officer~~ administrative
 299 law judge may apply to the superior court of the judicial circuit in which the hearing was
 300 held for an order granting reasonable fees in excess of the amounts specified in this
 301 paragraph. The \$40.00 court cost authorized by paragraph (2) of this subsection shall also
 302 be authorized to defray the cost of clerical help and additional office space and equipment
 303 required for the conduct of such hearings."

304 **SECTION 8.**

305 Said chapter is further amended in Code Section 37-4-110, relating to appeal rights of clients,
 306 their representatives, or attorneys, as follows:

307 "37-4-110.

308 The client, the client's representatives, or the client's attorney may appeal any order of the
 309 probate court or ~~hearing officer~~ administrative law judge rendered in a proceeding under
 310 this chapter to the superior court of the county in which the proceeding was held, except
 311 as otherwise provided in Article 6 of Chapter 9 of Title 15, and may appeal any order of
 312 the juvenile court rendered in a proceeding under this chapter to the Court of Appeals and

313 the Supreme Court. The appeal to the superior court shall be made in the same manner as
 314 appeals from the probate court to the superior court, except that the appeal shall be heard
 315 before the court sitting without a jury as soon as practicable but not later than 30 days
 316 following the date on which the appeal is filed with the clerk of the superior court. The
 317 appeal from the order of the juvenile court to the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court
 318 shall be as provided by law but shall be heard as expeditiously as possible. The client must
 319 pay all costs upon filing any appeal authorized under this Code section or must make an
 320 affidavit that he or she is unable to pay costs. The client shall retain all rights of review of
 321 any order of the superior court, the Court of Appeals, and the Supreme Court as provided
 322 by law. The client shall have a right to counsel or, if unable to afford counsel, shall have
 323 counsel appointed for the client by the court. The appeal rights provided to the client, the
 324 client's representatives, or the client's attorney in this Code section are in addition to any
 325 other appeal rights which the parties may have, and the provision of the right for the client,
 326 the client's representatives, or the client's attorney to appeal does not deny the right to the
 327 Department of Behavioral Health and Developmental Disabilities to appeal under the
 328 general appeal provisions of Code Sections 5-3-2 and 5-3-3."

329

SECTION 9.

330 Code Section 17-7-131 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, relating to proceedings
 331 upon plea of insanity or mental incompetency at the time of the crime, is amended by
 332 revising paragraph (3) of subsection (e), as follows:

333 "(3) The defendant shall be detained in custody until completion of the hearing. The
 334 hearing shall be conducted at the earliest opportunity after the expiration of the 30 days'
 335 evaluation period but in any event within 30 days after receipt by the prosecuting attorney
 336 of the evaluation report from the mental health facility. The court may take judicial
 337 notice of evidence introduced during the trial of the defendant and may call for testimony
 338 from any person with knowledge concerning whether the defendant is currently a
 339 mentally ill person in need of involuntary treatment, as defined by paragraph (12) of
 340 Code Section 37-3-1, or ~~currently mentally retarded and in need of being ordered to~~
 341 ~~receive services, as those terms are defined by paragraph (12) of Code Section 37-3-1 and~~
 342 ~~Code Section 37-4-40~~ a person with a developmental disability, as defined in paragraph
 343 (8) of Code Section 37-1-1, who presents a substantial risk of imminent harm to himself
 344 or herself or others. The prosecuting attorney may cross-examine the witnesses called
 345 by the court and the defendant's witnesses and present relevant evidence concerning the
 346 issues presented at the hearing."

347 **SECTION 10.**

348 Code Section 31-22-9.1 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, relating to who may
349 perform HIV tests, is amended by revising subparagraph (a)(8)(B), as follows:

350 "(B) Facility for the mentally ill; persons or persons with developmental disabilities,
351 as such terms are defined in Code Section 37-1-1 ~~developmentally disabled~~, or
352 alcoholic or drug dependent persons, as defined in ~~Code Sections 37-3-1, 37-4-2, and~~
353 Code Section 37-7-1, respectively;"

354 **SECTION 11.**

355 Said chapter is further amended in Code Section 37-9-6, relating to standards for
356 determination of assessments for less than the full cost of care, as follows:

357 "37-9-6.

358 The board shall establish standards for determining assessments when such assessments
359 are less than the full cost of care. Such standards shall be based on the income, assets, and
360 other circumstances of the persons liable for cost of care and shall include consideration
361 of the number of dependents, as defined under Georgia income tax law and regulations;
362 legal rights to payment under any insurance agreement, and other evidence of ability to
363 pay; but no assessment shall be fixed or collected on the basis of any assets exempted by
364 subsection (b) of Code Section 37-9-8. In determining assessments for persons liable for
365 cost of care, the department shall develop procedures to ensure that no dependent,
366 deduction, or personal exemption as defined by Georgia income tax law will be reflected
367 more than once in the determination of assessments for any one patient. In establishing
368 standards to determine such assessments, the board shall adopt criteria to be applied
369 uniformly to all persons liable for cost of care, except that the board may adopt separate
370 criteria for assessing monthly benefits or funds from any source to cover cost of care,
371 support, and treatment provided to patients who are hospitalized for longer than three
372 months and whose current needs, as defined by the Social Security Administration, are
373 being met. However, the board shall ensure that the assessment made each month shall
374 allow the recipients of such benefits or funds to retain at a minimum an amount as a
375 personal allowance equal to the amount of the personal needs allowance allowed
376 beneficiaries under the state medical assistance plan. Further, such standards will include
377 special provisions for assessing ~~developmentally disabled respite care admissions under~~
378 ~~Code Section 37-4-21 or any other respite program~~ developmental disabilities respite care
379 allowed by law or duly adopted departmental regulations, where such admissions are
380 legally limited to 56 days of care a year. To the extent practicable, such criteria shall
381 ensure that persons having the same or substantially the same financial ability to pay cost

382 of care shall have the same or substantially the same financial obligation to pay such cost
383 of care."

384 **SECTION 12.**

385 All laws and parts of laws in conflict with this Act are repealed.